FILED 06-01-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP0367

WISCONSIN COTTAGE FOOD ASSOCIATION, MARK RADL, STACY BEDUHN, STEPH ZINK, KRISS MARION, LISA KIVIRIST, DELA ENDS, and PAULA RADL,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, TRADE, AND CONSUMER PROTECTTION and RANDY ROMANSKI,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM DECISIONS AND ORDERS GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DENYING A STAY, ENTERED IN THE LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RHONDA LANFORD, PRESIDING

#### APPELLANTS' BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

#### INTRODUCTION

This case involves a challenge to Wisconsin's retail-food establishment laws. These laws require a person who wants to sell food directly to consumers to obtain a license, receive training in food safety and hygiene, utilize appropriate facilities for their food preparation, and undergo occasional inspections, among other requirements.

Plaintiffs claim that these laws violate their rights under the equal protection and due process clauses because the foods they want to sell—candies, vegetable fritters, energy bars, dried soup mixes, and dehydrated vegetables, among others—are supposedly as safe as some foods that are sold under statutory or regulatory *exemptions* from the retail-food laws. They claim that because nonprofit organizations are granted limited exemptions from the retail-food laws (they can sell foods directly to consumers at up to twelve events per year), and because nonprofits can thus sell, without a license, some of the same foods that Plaintiffs wish to sell, it is unconstitutionally irrational to require Plaintiffs to comply with the food laws.

The circuit court agreed, granted summary judgment for Plaintiffs, and enjoined the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade, and Consumer Protection (DATCP) from enforcing multiple statutes and two chapters of the Wisconsin Administrative Code against "Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated individuals." The injunction provided no definition of who is "similarly situated" to Plaintiffs.

The judgment below should be reversed. All agree that Plaintiffs' claims are subject to rational-basis review, which is the most deferential standard of constitutional review, and is met if there is *any conceivable basis* on which the Legislature reasonably might have passed the challenged laws. There are multiple conceivable bases on which the Legislature might have enacted Wisconsin's retail-food laws, including food-

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 12 of 53

safety, consumer protection, and promoting consumer confidence in foods sold in Wisconsin, among others. With these conceivable bases identified, the complaint should have been dismissed at the threshold.

While the circuit court *cited* principles of rational-basis review, its analysis reflected none of them. The court stated that it "[could] not contemplate" any conceivable legal basis for the laws other than "food safety," and that because nonprofits can sell foods that the court believed to have "the exact same food safety concerns," it was unconstitutionally irrational to grant exemptions to nonprofits but not Plaintiffs.

This type of courtroom second-guessing of legislation is prohibited on rational-basis review. The court's comparison between Plaintiffs and exempted food sellers is irrelevant: this case is about the constitutionality of the retail-food laws as applied to Plaintiffs—not about the exemptions as applied to others, or about the *lack of* laws passed for Plaintiffs' benefit.

And even putting aside the court's erroneous constitutional analysis, its injunction is independently, fatally flawed. The injunction amounts to "judicial legislation," effectively enacting a new exemption from the retail-food laws for "Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated individuals." Not only does that impermissibly arrogate the legislative role, but the terms of the injunction are so broad and undefined as to provide no guidance of what is actually prohibited or required.

The retail-food laws are constitutional and the injunction is unlawful. The judgment below should be reversed.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Where social and economic welfare laws are 1. challenged as violating equal protection and due process, courts apply rational-basis review and will uphold the law if there is any conceivable, legitimate basis on which the Legislature might have enacted the law. Once a conceivable basis is identified that would sustain the challenged law, the inquiry stops and the law will be upheld. Fact-finding about the Legislature's bases for the law is prohibited, as doing so would involve second-guessing legislative decisions based only on material introduced in the court record. Challenges line-drawing are therefore legislative "virtually unreviewable," as those scope-of-coverage determinations are a quintessentially legislative task, not subject to judicial revision.

Here, Plaintiffs challenged Wisconsin's retail-foodestablishment laws, which impose requirements on entities that wish to sell food directly to Wisconsin consumers. Requirements include obtaining a license, undergoing foodsafety training and safety inspections, and using appropriate facilities for food production. Plaintiffs claim that the retailfood laws are unconstitutional because the foods they wish to sell are "as safe as, or safer than" foods that may be sold under certain exemptions from the food laws.

The retail-food laws conceivably serve multiple legitimate purposes, including protecting consumers from various food-based risks and promoting consumer confidence in foods sold in Wisconsin. Specifically, the Legislature might reasonably have concluded that requiring food sellers—including Plaintiffs—to comply with the food laws' various requirements will minimize consumers' exposure to allergens, minimize the risk of consuming adulterated foods, and minimize the risk that Wisconsinites will consume foods

contaminated with food-borne pathogens such as *Salmonella* and *E. coli*.

Do those laws pass rational-basis review, such that Plaintiffs' complaint should have been dismissed?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer yes and reverse the circuit court's decision granting summary judgment for Plaintiffs.

2. To be enforceable, an injunction must be definite and specific as to the acts or conduct prohibited so the person enjoined can know what conduct must be avoided. Additionally, injunctions of statutes or administrative rules may prohibit the enforcement of the laws only as written; an injunction may not be used to expand legislative rights. An injunction that attempts to do so is impermissible as usurping the legislative lawmaking role.

Here, the circuit court enjoined DATCP from enforcing two multi-part statutes and two chapters of the Wisconsin Administrative Code relating to retail-food licensing, inspection, facilities requirements, and training. The injunction prohibits application of these laws "against the Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated individuals," although the order does not define the class of "similarly situated individuals." The effect of the injunction was to create a new exemption for Plaintiffs from Wisconsin's generally applicable retail-food laws. The injunction does not define multiple terms that would be necessary for DATCP to understand what is definitively prohibited and allowed under both the injunction and existing law.

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 15 of 53

Is the injunction void for vagueness, or did the injunction exceed the court's authority by effectively enacting a new exemption from the retail-food laws?

The circuit court implicitly answered no to both.

This Court should answer yes to both and reverse the circuit court's injunction and order.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument may be helpful to the Court in analyzing Plaintiffs' novel constitutional claims and the circuit court's multiple analytical errors in applying rational-basis review. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.22(2)(b).

Publication may be warranted because the appeal will involve application of established principles of rational-basis review to a situation different from that in published Wisconsin opinions, and could decide matters of substantial and continuing public interest—namely, the viability of constitutional challenges to the Legislature's decision *not* to enact a statute for the benefit of a challenger. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1., 5.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wisconsin statutes and administrative code provisions establish detailed rules and procedures related to licensing, training, and inspection of retail-food establishments (collectively referred to herein as the "retail-food laws"). The circuit court's injunction prohibited DATCP from enforcing these laws against Plaintiffs and other similarly situated individuals.

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 16 of 53

### I. Wisconsin law regulates the preparation and sale of food.

### A. Food sellers must obtain a license and comply with food safety laws.

Wisconsinites who want to sell food directly to consumers for profit must be licensed as a "[r]etail food establishment," and follow food-safety procedures. Wis. Stat. §§ 97.30(1)(c), (2)(a); see also Wis. Admin. Code ATCP ch. 75 and ch. 75 App. (often referred to as "the Food Code"). These include requirements governing the cleaning, sanitation, and maintenance of food contact surfaces, equipment, and utensils. Wis. Admin. Code ATCP ch. 75 App. 4-1–4-2, 4-5–4-7. Food sellers must use a commercial-grade kitchen to prepare the foods to be sold to the public, see id. App. 1-103.10(A), 3-201.11(B), 6-1–6-5, and any food-preparation area be separated from toilet rooms and sleeping quarters, id. App. 6-202.111.

Retail food establishments also must follow requirements for safe handling and storage of food. *Id.* App. 3-1–3-8. The operator of a retail food establishment must be able to describe foods identified as major food allergens and the symptoms that a major food allergen could cause in a sensitive individual who has an allergic reaction. *Id.* App. 2-102.11(C)(9). Food contact surfaces must be cleaned and sanitized and the label on packaged food must list major food allergens that are ingredients. *Id.* App. 3-602.11, 4-6–4-7.

### B. DATCP is responsible for licensing and inspecting retail food establishments.

DATCP conducts regular inspections of licensed retail food establishments to ensure compliance with Wisconsin's food safety regulations. Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 75.10; see also Wis. Admin. Code ATCP ch. 75 App. 2-1. As part of the inspection process, DATCP sanitarians educate operators

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 17 of 53

on food safety standards and provide suggestions to correct any problems. (R. 69  $\P$  27, 29.)

DATCP's inspections include measures to verify proper sanitation and safe food-handling practices. (R. 69 ¶¶ 10, 15–27.) For example, as part of a routine inspection, the sanitarian asks the operator about the establishment's training of employees, hygiene procedures, cleaning procedures, and ingredients. (R. 69 ¶¶ 18–22.) Importantly, sanitarians also ask about the facility's allergen protocols. (R. 69 ¶ 24.) If a licensed facility uses allergens as ingredients, it must separate them from other ingredients during processing to prevent cross-contamination. (R. 69 ¶ 24.) Sanitarians observe how allergens are controlled at the facility, including cleaning procedures and labeling practices. (R. 69 ¶ 24.)

If unsafe or unsanitary conditions are found, DATCP has the authority to stop food production and sale. Wis. Admin. Code ATCP §§ 75.10(3)–(4), 75.12.

These routine inspections have allowed DATCP sanitarians to discover significant food safety concerns at licensed retail food establishments, including pest infestations, rotting ingredients being used to prepare made-to-order foods, and soiled utensils and equipment being used for food preparation. (R. 69 ¶¶ 33–36, 39.) If these establishments were not licensed and inspected, the violations likely would have gone undiscovered and uncorrected. (R. 69 ¶ 41.)

### C. Wisconsin law provides limited exemptions from the licensure requirement.

The Legislature has created a limited set of exemptions from the retail-food law's licensing and inspection requirements. *See* Wis. Stat. § 97.30(2)(b). Relevant here, religious, charitable, and non-profit organizations are exempt from the license requirement if they sell food at no more than

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 18 of 53

12 events in a calendar year. Wis. Admin. Code ATCP §§ 75.063(6)–(7), 75.04(21), (28). There are also exemptions from the retail-food licensure requirement for producers of specific foods, typically consisting of a single ingredient, provided the producers are not engaged in the production or sale of any other foods. Examples include fresh produce, maple syrup and sorghum, cider, honey, and popcorn. See Wis. Stat. § 97.30(2)(b)1.a.–b., d.; Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 75.063(5).

### D. The Legislature has rejected proposals to extend licensing exemptions.

In recent legislative sessions, lawmakers have introduced several bills intended to create a licensing exemption for baked goods made by "cottage food" producers like Plaintiffs. If enacted, these bills would have allowed the unlicensed, direct sale of home-baked goods to the public. See 2013 Assembly Bill 182; 2013 Senate Bill 435; 2015 Assembly Bill 417; 2015 Senate Bill 330. During the consideration of these bills, commenters raised concerns about food-safety training and allergen labeling. (See R. 51:16–20; 52:1–10.) Ultimately, the Legislature did not pass them.

### II. Litigation background.

This case involves a constitutional challenge to Wisconsin's retail food licensing laws based in large part on the licensing exemptions for nonprofits and certain foods. A previous challenge to the same laws provides context for this case.

#### A. Kivirist v. DATCP

In 2016, three Wisconsin residents filed a complaint challenging Wisconsin's retail-food laws as applied to "not-potentially hazardous" baked goods, such as cookies, cakes, and muffins. *See Kivirist v. DATCP*, Case No. 16-CV-0006

(Lafayette Cnty.) (hereafter "Kivirist"). The term "not potentially hazardous" is not defined in Wisconsin law,¹ but plaintiffs (and eventually the circuit court) interpreted the term as synonymous with "shelf-stable" foods—meaning foods that do not require refrigeration. (Kivirist Dkt. 202:30; see also Kivirist Dkt. 218:2.)

The *Kivirist* plaintiffs argued that Wisconsin's retail-food laws violated equal protection and due process because they irrationally require a license to sell "not potentially hazardous" foods like cookies and cakes, which plaintiffs claimed were safer than foods sold under the exemptions. (*See Kivirist* Dkt. 6 (complaint).) Plaintiffs sought an injunction prohibiting application of the retail-food laws to them and similarly situated individuals—i.e, anyone wishing to sell not-potentially hazardous homemade baked goods. (*Kivirist* Dkt. 6.)

DATCP responded that Wisconsin's retail-food licensing laws serve multiple legitimate legislative goals and thus easily satisfy the controlling constitutional standard, rational-basis review. (*See generally Kivirist* Dkt. 37.)

The *Kivirist* circuit court disagreed, held that Wisconsin's food safety laws were irrational as to Plaintiffs, and enjoined DATCP from applying the various statutes and regulations to the three named plaintiffs. (*See Kivirist*, Dkt. 202:29–30; *see also Kivirist* Dkt. 218:2.) The *Kivirist* court eventually granted a request by the plaintiffs to extend the injunction to "all other similarly-situated individuals." (*Kivirist* Dkt. 188:2.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Potentially hazardous food" is a defined term under Wisconsin law: food that "requires temperature control" for safety and that can "support rapid and progressive growth of infectious or toxicogenic microorganisms." Wis. Stat. §§ 97.27(1)(dm), 97.29(1)(hm), 97.30(1)(bm); Wis. Admin. Code ATCP ch. 75 App. 1-201.10(B) (definition of "[p]otentially hazardous food").

State officials in 2017 elected not to appeal the *Kivirist* court's ruling relating to baked goods.

In 2021, Plaintiffs filed a motion to find DATCP in contempt on the 2017 injunction, based on their disagreement regarding DATCP's interpretation of the injunction and enforcement of existing retail-food licensing laws. The circuit court denied the contempt motion and clarified its previous orders as prohibiting application of Wisconsin's retail-food licensing requirements to any food, provided "the food is (1) homemade, (2) shelf stable, and (3) has been baked in an oven." (*Kivirist* Dkt. 218:2.)

### B. Claims and litigation in this case.

At the same time the *Kivirist* plaintiffs moved for contempt in that case, they also filed this separate lawsuit,<sup>2</sup> seeking relief not limited to baked goods. (*See* R. 3.)

1. **Plaintiffs** alleged the retail-food statutes and regulations are unconstitutional and sought an exemption for unbaked. "not potentially hazardous" foods.

Plaintiffs alleged that just as it is irrational to require licensure for the production and sale of "not potentially hazardous" *baked goods*, as held in *Kivirist*, it is equally irrational to require licensure for *unbaked* goods, such as energy bars, candies, granola, Rice Krispie Treats, dried soup mixes, and dehydrated vegetables, among others. (R. 3 ¶¶ 70, 80, 88, 99, 107, 116.)

Plaintiffs characterized the licensing, inspection, and commercial-kitchen requirements as imposing a "ban" on the "the sale of most shelf-stable homemade foods." (R. 3 ¶¶ 1,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs in the current case include additional individuals as well as the Wisconsin Cottage Food Association. (R. 3.)

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 21 of 53

17–26.) They claimed this "ban" violates due process and equal protection because it is not "necessary to achieve, narrowly tailored to, reasonably related to, or rationally related to any compelling, substantial, or legitimate governmental interest." (R.  $3 \P 130, 141–53.$ )

They sought a new licensing exemption, based on their theory that the foods they wish to sell are "just as safe as, if not safer than, the foods" sold by nonprofits under the limited exemptions and the specific foods exempted by statute or rule. (R. 3 ¶¶ 146, 152.) They sought an injunction "prohibiting [DATCP] from enforcing the licensing requirements . . . as well as the statutes and regulations governing such licensees . . . against Plaintiffs and other persons producing and selling shelf-stable homemade foods directly to consumers." (R. 3:33.)

2. DATCP moved to dismiss, arguing that Wisconsin's retail-food laws serve multiple, legitimate legislative purposes and easily satisfy rational-basis review.

DATCP moved to dismiss on the ground that the challenged laws are rationally related to legitimate state interests in promoting public health, safety, and welfare, and thus easily pass rational-basis review. (See generally R. 20, 28.) DATCP argued that the constitutionality of the generally applicable licensing laws is not affected by the Legislature's decision not to enact an exemption covering them or their so-called "not potentially hazardous foods." (See generally R. 20, 28.) DATCP pointed out multiple legitimate bases on which the Legislature may have passed the food laws, and there is no basis to require "proof" that the Legislature's chosen scheme applies perfectly to Plaintiffs' proposed foods. (See, e.g. R. 28:11–14.)

Case 2023AP000367 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2023 Page 22 of 53

The circuit court denied the motion to dismiss. (R. 32, 37.) Despite DATCP's enumeration of multiple conceivable bases to sustain the challenged laws, the circuit court believed that dismissing the case at the pleadings stage "would essentially render the rational basis test" toothless, affording no meaningful review of the legitimacy of the challenged laws. (R. 32:27.)

3. The parties proceeded to discovery and Plaintiffs conducted numerous depositions of DATCP employees, seeking their opinions about the challenged laws.

Having rejected Defendants' proffered rational bases and denied the motion to dismiss, the court set a schedule and the parties proceeded to conduct discovery.

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