Filed 08-02-2023

Page 1 of 57

FILED 08-02-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP000367

WISCONSIN COTTAGE FOOD ASSOCIATION, MARK RADL, STACY BEDUHN, STEPH ZINK¹, KRISS MARION, LISA KIVIRIST, DELA ENDS AND PAULA RADL,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, TRADE AND CONSUMER PROTECTION, and RANDY ROMANSKI,

Defendants-Appellants.

Appeal from Decisions and Orders Granting Summary Judgment and Denying a Stay, Entered in the Lafayette Circuit Court, the Honorable Rhonda L. Lanford, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS

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

Appellants' entire response to this is that "[b]y enacting the

Page 43 of 57

exemptions that it did, and not others, the Legislature^[11] has already conducted the conclusive analysis of which laws best benefit the public." Gov't Br. 44–45. Of course, Appellants' response ignores that Appellants themselves have previously proposed legislation that would reform these laws. (R. 84:42–43, 70–77; R. 98.) Regardless, such circular reasoning is clearly wrong, as the controlling caselaw shows that statutes passed by the Legislature can indeed fail this prong. *See, e.g., Metro. Assocs.*, 2011 WI 20, ¶ 73 ("[Act 86] also fails to satisfy the fifth criteria of the rational basis test.").

II. Appellants' Alternative Arguments Also Fail.

A. Equal-protection claims are not limited to either facial attacks on statutory language or "class-ofone" claims.

Throughout their brief, Appellants note that Respondents are not mounting a facial challenge. *See, e.g.*, Gov't Br. 43 ("Wisconsin's food laws do not impose any 'classification' specific to Plaintiffs."). According to Appellants, this meant that "the circuit court had to invent a class consisting of 'Plaintiffs and all similarly situated individuals." *Id.* at 41. That is because, according to Appellants, equal-protection challenges are limited to only two varieties: facial challenges against "explicitly discriminatory provision[s]" and "class-of-one" challenges. *Id.* at 41–42. In other words, Appellants have changed their position from what they told

¹¹ Yet, many of the Ban's exemptions are found in agency regulations. *See, e.g.*, Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 75.063(6) (nonprofit exemption).

the court below about hybrid challenges, (*see* R. 20:11) (Gov't Mot. to Dismiss)), and are now taking the new and remarkable position that hybrid challenges are not allowed. In support, Appellants cite a single case. Gov't Br. 41 (citing *Monarch Bev. Co.*, 861 F.3d at 682).

That case, in fact, cuts completely against Appellants' position. As the Seventh Circuit explained, "[t]he class-of-one label is somewhat misleading because what distinguishes these cases isn't necessarily the fact that the plaintiff is the only one harmed." *Monarch Beverage Co.*, 861 F.3d at 682 n.2. Indeed, "the number of individuals in a class is immaterial for equal protection analysis." *Id.* at 682 (citation omitted). What matters is that the challenger can "[i]dentify[] a similarly situated comparator [as] a way to show that disparate treatment in fact has occurred," so that the court may then review the rationality of that treatment. *Id.* at 682. It is beyond dispute that Respondents have done that here. Gov't Br. 43 ("Certainly none of the exemptions applies to Plaintiffs[.]").

Appellants' change in position is especially surprising considering that the Wisconsin Supreme Court has been quite clear on this point. See Gabler v. Crime Victims Rights Bd., 2017 WI 67, ¶¶ 27–29, 60, 376 Wis.2d 147, 897 N.W.2d 384; State v. Konrath, 218 Wis.2d 290, 304 n.13, 577 N.W.2d 601 (1998) ("[W]hen a court holds a statute unconstitutional as applied to

particular facts, the state may enforce the statute in different circumstances.").¹²

As Appellants themselves recognized when arguing to the court below, (*see* R. 20:11), it is entirely irrelevant whether the Ban applies "explicitly and directly to the challengers as a statutorily identified group." Gov't Br. 41. Given that this is a hybrid challenge, this Court must analyze the constitutionality of applying the Ban to Respondents while not applying it to the many exempted classes. It makes no difference whether the law might be applied to some other third party.¹³

B. Equal protection looks to substance, not merely form.

Next, Appellants claim that the government can insulate laws from equal-protection review by labeling disparate treatment as "exemptions." Gov't Br. 44. Appellants are clearly mistaken as

¹² Other courts have been similarly clear. See, e.g., Merrifield, 547 F.3d at 992; Craigmiles v. Giles, 312 F.3d 220, 222–23 (6th Cir. 2002 (affirming injunction of state funeral director licensing scheme "insofar as it bars nonlicensed funeral directors from the retail sale of caskets" and noting that injunction did not "enjoin the operation of the entire Act, its application to other parties, or even to the plaintiffs if their business activities changed"); St. Joseph Abbey v. Castille, 712 F.3d 215, 224, 227 (5th Cir. 2013) (affirming injunction of district court of funeral director licensing scheme as applied to selling caskets); Patel v. Tex. Dep't of Licensing & Regul., 469 S.W.3d 69 (Tex. 2015) (enjoining application of cosmetology license just to those threading eyebrows).

¹³ Appellants erroneously suggest that Respondents conceded below that the challenged laws in this case "make sense for 'a factory that produces millions of cookies." Gov't Br. 31. But Respondents made no such concession. That discussion of Respondents' response to Appellants' motion to dismiss merely clarified what this case is—and is not—about. This is a case about homemade foods; the constitutionality of applying these laws to giant factories is not at issue.

a matter of constitutional doctrine. As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained:

The Equal Protection Clause . . . proscribe[s] . . . state action 'of every kind' that operates to deny any citizen the equal protection of the laws. This proscription on state action applies *de facto* as well as *de jure*[.]

Gilmore, 417 U.S. at 565; *see also Merrifield*, 547 F.3d at 992 ("Here, the government has undercut its own rational basis for the licensing scheme by *excluding Merrifield from the exemption*." (emphasis added)).

The same holds true in Wisconsin, where the Wisconsin Supreme Court has similarly rejected the notion that equal protection "is limited to form and not substance." *Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis.2d at 209. Instead, what matters is whether there is a "rational basis for this *disparate treatment*." *Nankin*, 2001 WI 92. ¶ 6 (emphasis added). In the Wisconsin Supreme Court's words, the government has limited "leeway in *granting exemptions* . . . in regulatory measures under its police power without running athwart the equal-protection of the laws." *Moebius Printing*, 89 Wis. 2d at 625 (emphasis added).

It is thus completely beside the point that, on their face, "the laws that Plaintiffs challenged here apply to everyone." Gov't Br. 41 (emphasis omitted). The licensing requirements in *Grand Bazaar* also applied "to everyone"—that is, to any Milwaukeean wanting to sell liquor. Nevertheless, it was irrational, "in effect, [to] prohibit[] grocery stores from selling liquor" but not liquor stores. *Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis.2d at 205. Likewise, this case is not about "the absence of a law," Gov't Br. 44 (emphasis omitted), but about the Ban's irrationally "disparate treatment" of Respondents compared to the exempted classes. *Nankin*, 2001 WI 92, ¶ 6. This is well-settled equal-protection doctrine; the circuit court did not err by applying it.

Even so, Appellants suggest, "the legislature must be allowed leeway to approach a perceived problem incrementally." Gov't Br. 44 (quoting *Beach Commc'ns, Inc.*, 508 U.S. at 315–16). And it is true that the government is allowed to take incremental steps as part of a long-term, multi-step plan. But there is no such ongoing, multi-step plan here. (R. 83:51; R. 84:62.) To the contrary, "the record in this case" demonstrates that the application of these laws to Respondents addresses a "problem' . . . not noticed or indicated to exist." *Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis.2d at 214. And, in any event, whatever "leeway" the State has here is nevertheless subject to Wisconsin's multifactor equal-protection test. *Id.* at 209. *See also Moebius Printing*, 89 Wis. 2d at 625.

C. Rational-basis review is not a rubber stamp.

A consistent theme of Appellants' brief is the misguided notion that "rational basis" is a euphemism for "the government wins." Appellants assert that "second-guessing of legislative linedrawing [] is *strictly forbidden* on rational-basis review"—even for a challenge invoking equal protection. Gov't Br. 42 (emphasis added). According to Appellants, facts do not matter. *See* Gov't Br. 38 (claiming that the circuit court erred "by allowing discovery" in this case). Indeed, Appellants view rational-basis challenges to legislation as *per se* unviable. *Id.* at 44. That has never been the law.

On the contrary, rational-basis review "allows the court to probe beneath the claims of the government to determine if the constitutional requirement of some rationality . . . has been met." *Doering v. WEA Ins. Grp.*, 193 Wis. 2d 118, 132, 532 N.W.2d 432, 437 (1995) (quotation marks omitted). As a result, plaintiffs may develop the record to meet their burden to show that a law's application is irrational. *See, e.g., Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis. 2d at 209 ("Our review of the record in this case requires us to accept the plaintiff's position."). And Plaintiffs can win—both in Wisconsin¹⁴ and in courts across the country.¹⁵

In fact, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has explicitly (and unanimously) stated that courts exercising rational-basis review

¹⁴ See, e.g., Grand Bazaar, 105 Wis. 2d 203 (liquor license requirement violated both due process and equal protection); *Metro. Assocs.*, 2011 WI 20 (no rational basis for significantly different treatment of taxpayers in opt-out municipalities); *Town of Rhine v. Bizzell*, 2008 WI 76, 311 Wis. 2d 1, 751 N.W.2d 780 (zoning ordinance violated substantive due process); *Nankin*, 2001 WI 92 (different tax review procedures across towns according to population violated equal protection); *Watts*, 122 Wis. 2d 65 (statute classifying different procedures for continued protective placement of individuals violated equal protection).

¹⁵ See, e.g., City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 448 (1985); Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Ward, 470 U.S. 689 (1985); St. Joseph Abbey, 712 F.3d 215 (5th Cir. 2013); Fortress Bible Church v. Feiner, 694 F.3d 208 (2d Cir. 2012); Vaquería Tres Monjitas, Inc. v. Irizarry, 587 F.3d 464 (1st Cir. 2009); Doe v. Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Parole, 513 F.3d 95 (3d Cir. 2008); Merrifield, 547 F.3d 978 (9th Cir. 2008); Craigmiles, 312 F.3d 220 (6th Cir. 2002); Geo-Tech Reclamation Indus., Inc. v. Hamrick, 886 F.2d 662 (4th Cir. 1989); Wiliams v. Lane, 851 F.2d 867 (7th Cir. 1988); Ranschburg v. Toan, 709 F.2d 1207 (8th Cir. 1983).

"should not blindly rubber stamp legislation." *Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis.2d at 218. To be sure, the question is not whether the challenged application of the law is the *best* approach to achieving a given objective—but it must be *rational* in application, not "remote, fanciful or speculative." *Milwaukee Brewers*, 130 Wis. 2d at 103. Otherwise, the very "concept of equal protection [would not] be meaningful." *Ibid. See also Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis.2d at 213.

Mayo did not alter this standard. In that case, the Court reviewed a statutory cap on noneconomic medical malpractice damages. Mayo v. Wis. Injured Patients & Fams. Comp. Fund, 2018 WI 78, 383 Wis. 2d 1, 914 N.W.2d 678. The challenged law was materially identical to another statute that the Court had previously struck down (in Ferdon¹⁶) as irrationally burdening malpractice victims. Id. ¶ 11. The Mayo Court upheld the statute (and overruled Ferdon)—not because "facts are irrelevant" but because Ferdon ignored facts that made the law's operation rational. Id. ¶ 31 ("The [Ferdon] majority did not consider that part of the legislative plan that guaranteed 100 percent payment of all other damages, a benefit that no other tort carries."). The Court then explained at great length how the challenged scheme evinced the legislature's deliberate, rational policy choice. Id. ¶¶ 46–49.

Porter, too, did not alter Wisconsin's rational basis test. In that case (issued the same day as *Mayo*), the Court reviewed a law preventing the same person from owning both a funeral home and

 ¹⁶ Ferdon ex rel. Petrucelli v. Wis. Patients Comp. Fund, 2005 WI 125, 284
Wis. 2d 573, 701 N.W.2d 440.

Page 50 of 57

a cemetery. *Porter v. State*, 2018 WI 79, 382 Wis. 2d 697, 913 N.W.2d 842. The plaintiff asserted that he had raised a factual "issue warranting a trial." *Id.* ¶ 50 n.15. But the Court noted that "the State's expert . . . explained at length how the anticombination laws advanced [] legitimate government interests" and that this explanation was "without contradiction." *Id.* ¶ 19, 42. The *Porter* plaintiff's failure to create a disputed issue of material fact regarding the key issue meant that there was no need "for a fact-finding hearing" to resolve *other* disputed facts. *Id.* ¶ 50 n.15.

Even in the federal cases that undergird the bulk of Appellants' brief, facts still mattered. In *Beach Communications*,¹⁷ the U.S. Supreme Court upheld a Cable Act provision that distinguished between separately owned and commonly owned buildings. The Court explained the various reasons why Congress might rationally have made this distinction. 508 U.S. at 317–20. The challengers failed to negate those rationales—not because the factual record is irrelevant in these cases, but because the proffered evidence there proved only that it is "arguable" whether that law in fact furthered those rationales. *Id.* at 320. Had the challengers developed a stronger record, the outcome might have been different. *See supra* n.15.

The same holds true for *Minerva Dairy*,¹⁸ which stands for the opposite proposition claimed by Appellants. There, dairy

¹⁷ F.C.C. v. Beach Comme'ns, Inc., 508 U.S. 307 (1993).

¹⁸ Minera Dairy, Inc. v. Harsdorf, 905 F.3d 1047 (7th Cir. 2018).

manufacturers challenged a requirement that butter sellers provide consumers with additional information pursuant to a butter-grading system. 905 F.3d at 1050–53. To support their equal-protection claim, the challengers there asserted "that the law irrationally discriminates between butter and other similarly situated commodities." *Id.* at 1056. That claim failed because "the Department presented at least some evidence that butter is materially different than other commodities." *Id.* at 1057. Rather than ignore the record, the Seventh Circuit ruled the way it did *because of the record. Ibid.* Under that factual record, the challengers there had simply failed to prove their claims.

In this case, it is beyond reasonable dispute that Appellants are arbitrarily preventing Respondents from selling their foods while allowing materially identical food sales. And it is disingenuous at best to cast aside a record filled with *express admissions from Appellants' own designated representative and expert* as merely evincing "various witnesses' *beliefs* about the reasonableness of regulating [Respondents]' foods, and whether [Respondents]' foods are 'safe' as compared to other foods." Gov't Br. 38. Given this record, the circuit court did not engage in "courtroom fact-finding" but merely observed that the material facts were not in dispute. (R. 122:4 ("The facts set forth below are supported by the uncontested affidavits and undisputed facts filed in this matter, which the Court has reviewed in their entirety.")).

At bottom, Appellants fault the circuit court for observing their own express admissions and then following the law. They think the circuit court should have blindly rubber stamped the Ban regardless of the record. But that is not how the test works. *See Grand Bazaar*, 105 Wis.2d at 218 ("[W]e should not blindly rubber stamp legislation enacted under the guise of the city's police power").

Indeed, if Appellants' approach were to be followed, no rational-basis challenge could ever succeed. Yet they do. *See supra* n.14, 15. And if ever there were a case where one should succeed, it is here, where Appellants' own designated representative, expert, and officers expressly explained under oath that each of the Ban's distinctions "doesn't make any sense." (R. 83:51; R. 84:62.)

D. The circuit court expressly explained that it was *not* giving *Kivirist* preclusive effect.

Next, Appellants erroneously suggest that the circuit court granted *Kivirist* "preclusive effect." Gov't Br. 47. Appellants are mistaken. The circuit court expressly explained that *Kivirist* "is not [binding] precedent" and that "[n]o one has argued that it's the law of the case." (R. 32:3 (transcript from motion-to-dismiss hearing).) Instead, the circuit court merely recognized that the foods covered by the *Kivirist* ruling were being treated differently than the foods at issue here, despite Appellants' express admission that, in the government's view, those foods are "the same thing." (R. 84: 55–56, 62.) There was nothing improper about the circuit court doing so.

III. The Circuit Court's Injunction was Proper.

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